FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/22/2023 4:34 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101829-1

NO. 83348-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BROOKS ABEL, an individual

Appellant,

v.

GRANT COUNT PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT,

Respondent.

APPELLANT BROOKS ABEL'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sumeer Singla, WSBA #32852 Adam Rosenberg, WSBA #39256 Daniel A. Brown, WSBA #22028 Williams, Kastner & Gibbs, PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph: (206) 628-6600 Fx: (206) 628-6611

Counsel for Brooks Abel

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is an Individual, Brooks Abel ("Abel"), Appellant in the Court of Appeals under Cause No. 83348-1 and Plaintiff in the Superior Court for King County, Cause No. 20-2-07874-3 SEA

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS

Abel seeks review of the Division One published opinion *Abel v. Grant County Public Utility District*, 2023 WL 2132183. (Appendix A).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The trial court erred, and the appellate court affirmed, when it instructed the jury on the standard for incapacity and tolling.

2. The trial court erred, and the appellate court affirmed, when it permitted the admission and use of collateral source hearsay by PUD to dispute capacity.

3. The trial court erred, and the appellate court affirmed, when it permitted the admission and use of evidence

that Abel consumed alcohol when PUD could not establish any impairment and declined a curative instruction.

4. The trial court erred, and the appellate court affirmed, when it permitted PUD to assert recreational immunity despite its CR 30(b)(6) representative admitting, unequivocally, that it lacked authority to open and close the land at issue. The trial court then further erred, and the appellate court affirmed, when it did not permit Abel to even argue PUD's lack of authority as a factual issue at trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PUD And Its "Shotgun Marriage" With Recreation.

The Federal Water Power Act of 1920, as later amended by the Federal Power Act of 1935 (FPA), authorized the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) to regulate non-federal hydroelectric projects. FERC specifically requires certain recreation on its projects.¹ Here, FERC's guidance specifically

¹ https://www.ferc.gov/sites/default/files/2020-04/smpbook.pdf (last visited July 21, 2022) at 11-13; *see also* CP 1695 (Article 5).

confirms that providing recreational opportunities is not "optional" for licensees, like PUD.² So PUD, like any FERC licensee, was *required* to open and maintain recreational opportunities for the public.³

B. The Sandbar

One of the mandatory amenities on PUD's hydroelectric project land is the Quilomene Dune—also known by locals as "the Sandbar." It is a piece of land jutting out into the Columbia river, known for warm weather, boating, and hard partying:⁴



² https://www.ferc.gov/sites/default/files/2020-04/smpbook.pdf (last visited July 21, 2022) at 11-13.
³ CP 493.

CP 495.

⁴ CP 1708-1709.

According to PUD, "the site receives extreme recreational use," including "large gatherings of boats and serious partying on holiday weekends and during concerts at the Gorge Amphitheater."⁵ In a given year, PUD estimates that almost 30,000 people visit the site.⁶

The Sandbar is not a public service magnanimously provided by PUD; it is open because FERC requires it to be open. Even PUD's own Recreation Facility Inventory identifies it as a "FERC approved (required) amenity."⁷ PUD's CR 30(b)(6) witness admitted that PUD lacked any authority to close the Sandbar, even if it wanted to.⁸

C. The Dangerous Water Fluctuations At The Sandbar

As part of its hydroelectric operations, PUD dramatically raises and lowers water levels. PUD's CEO testified that it

⁵ CP 1707.

⁶ CP 1678.

⁷ CP 1707; CP 1717 (message to investors that "one of our main responsibilities is to provide public access and recreation along our project lands.").

⁸ CP 1676.

operates on a "ten foot band," meaning that it would not be unusual for the water to be at a certain level in a particular location one day, and at the same location the next day—it would be perhaps 8-feet (and possibly 10-feet) shallower.⁹ Consequently, that same person might dive into deep water one day, and then, unwittingly, shallow water the next. There was no meaningful dispute that this was a "man-made change" to a natural condition.¹⁰

PUD has known that this was a hazard and a problem for decades. In 2000, it surveyed local residents about their "potential issues or concerns" about the project reservoirs, and "reservoir pool level fluctuations" were at the very top of the list.¹¹ PUD took no action.¹²

⁹ VRP 2074:25-2076:16.

¹⁰ VRP 2196:2-2197:23; 2198:4-2198:18; 2219:7-22 (PUD representative testimony).

¹¹ CP 1840; *See* CP 1849

¹² CP 1684-85 (responding to 30(b)(6) topic requesting to know "everything PUD has done to effectuate safety at the Sandbar").

The same problem was reiterated over and over again in 2015 when PUD surveyed visitors at the Sandbar about their experience. The feedback once again included complaints about changing water levels.¹³ Again, PUD took now action.¹⁴ Indeed, despite decades of awareness, surveys, FERC mandates, and robust policies PUD admitted that it has done **nothing** whatsoever to effectuate safety at the Sandbar.¹⁵

D. The Injury And Aftermath

Given the PUD knew that it was causing a danger at a property known for big crowds and significant recreation, and that it did nothing to fix it, an injury like Abel's was inevitable.

Abel had been to the Sandbar several times prior to May 1, 2016—including the week before, when he visited with friends.¹⁶ He dove in the same area, and had seen others do the

¹³ CP 1857-CP 1931 (multiple surveys).

¹⁴ CP 1683.

¹⁵ CP 1656; *see also* CP 1658 (admitting that "nobody" at PUD is "responsible for ensuring that the Sandbar remains safe for public use").

¹⁶ VRP 1687:13-1689:15.

same.¹⁷ No part of Abel even touched the bottom of the river during those previous dives.¹⁸ The only signage about water levels was at the Vantage Boat Launch (miles away), facing the wrong direction, which nobody recalled the substance of.¹⁹

It turns out that PUD rapidly drained the river in the week preceding Abel's May 1st trip to the Sandbar. Witnesses recalled that the water was much shallower on May 1st.²⁰ Abel had no idea that things were so different, however.²¹ The water was murky, making the change invisible from the boat.²² Abel dove in, thinking it was deep (as it had always been), but instead landed on his head.²³ The 1.9 foot difference in depth, since the week before, was likely the difference between walking away and quadriplegia.²⁴

 ¹⁷ Id.
 ¹⁸ Id.
 ¹⁹ VRP 2215:1-19; VRP 773:9-13; 861:6-13.
 ²⁰ See VRP 1300:23-1301:3.
 ²¹ VRP 1719:17-25.
 ²² VRP 830:20-831:3.
 ²³ VRP 1979:16-1980:1; VRP 1215:17-1216:9.
 ²⁴ Id.

When Abel awoke, his legs no longer functioned; his friends had to drag him out of the water.²⁵ Doctors at Harborview diagnosed Abel with a cervical spine injury.²⁶ Unfortunately, the physical disability was only part of Abel's harm. The nature of his injuries rendered him helpless and dependent on his family for food, housing, medical care, and virtually every other basic need.²⁷ Abel had to essentially re-learn how to live, while, during the first year or two, struggling with paranoia and severe depression.²⁸ He attempted suicide several times and could not keep thoughts straight or focus on a single thing at a time, nor control his emotions.²⁹ Emergency medical services were called repeatedly to stop Abel from killing himself.³⁰

²⁵ VRP 880:1-21.

²⁶ VRP 1215:17-1216:9.

²⁷ VRP 1605:14-1606:6; VRP 1606:7-1607:7.

²⁸ Id.

²⁹ *Id*.; VRP 2106:16-2107:15; 2108:21-2109:1 (mother detailing suicide attempts and ending up at the fire station "out of desperation to ask them how long a person could go without food or water...") ³⁰ *Id*.

Abel spent the vast majority of this time in a "fog," during which he could not plan, consider the future, engage with others, or think beyond his depression.³¹ He lost most of his friends, because he could not focus or engage.³² If the subject matter during a discussion became too complex or forward looking, he would get overwhelmed and shut down. Even now, gaps in memory and recall plague Abel.³³

Given this, it was not hard for two different experts to conclude that, for at least a year after his injury, Abel lacked capacity to evaluate his legal rights and remedies, retain counsel, and assist in the prosecution of his claims. Neuropsychologist, Dr. Martha Glisky, concluded that the severe mental, emotional, psychological and cognitive impacts of plaintiff's brain and spine injuries made it impossible for Abel to engage in the level of thinking that required evaluate whether a wrong occurred,

³¹ VRP 1605:14-1606:6; VRP 1606:7-1607:7.

³² VRP 2102:11-25.

³³ VRP 1752:9-1753:6.

understand civil proceedings, search out and retain an attorney competent to handle a case like his, and adequately assist in its investigation and prosecution. He was not cognitively or psychologically competent to perform these tasks until, at least, January 2018.³⁴

Dr. Olson added, given Abel's ongoing suicidality and tunnel vision, "it would be unreasonable to expect someone like Mr. Abel given his then-mental health and physical limitations" to engage in the "higher level planning and thought required to enforce his legal rights following his injury.³⁵ Subtracting 12 months of incapacity, Abel started this lawsuit within the three year statutory period.³⁶

³⁴ VRP 1615:25-1616:2.

³⁵ VRP 1231:3-1232:21 ("especially if they're struggling with accepting what's happening and coping, that it's hard to appreciate consequences or forward thinking or things like that, and they can get very focused on just what's right there directly in front of them.")

³⁶ According to the expert testimony, plaintiff was competent to participate in legal proceeding on November 1, 2017. The lawsuit was filed in April 2020, after 60 days of additional tolling associated with claim filing under RCW 4.96.

E. Procedural Posture

Unfortunately, Abel's case was gutted on the courthouse steps. Following briefing and argument, on the capacity question, the trial court created a "chess clock" type instruction; Abel would have to prove his *lack* of capacity by clear, cogent and convincing evidence; and then the burden would shift to PUD to prove capacity by a preponderance of the evidence.³⁷ This was an instruction, predicated on a 1916 case which neither side advocated for.³⁸

Over objection, PUD was allowed to controvert this issue with hearsay medical opinions, from a DSHS worker who neither testified nor was amenable to foundation that her work had anything to do with medical diagnosis or treatment (as opposed to collateral source benefits).

The trial court, even worse, let alcohol into the case, despite the manifest lack of impairment evidence. The fact is that

³⁷ CP 3340-42.

³⁸ See VRP 207:23-208:7; CP 3507.

drinking was admitted at trial, even though there was *zero* evidence it had anything to do with the accident itself. Mr. Abel's BAC was .03. The reason: Abel did not remember the day of his injury—because of how badly he was hurt—and the trial court viewed this as a "functional denial" of drinking:³⁹ So, PUD could ask Abel about prejudicial and irrelevant alcohol use, open its own door, and then "impeach" Abel with an expert because he was too injured to recall one way or the other. Predictably, in closing, PUD used the evidence to attack Abel's *judgment*, not his memory.⁴⁰

The trial court next found recreational use immunity applied, as a matter of law, despite PUD's documentary and deposition admissions that it lacked authority to open and close the Sandbar.⁴¹ Abel could not even dispute the issue factually,

³⁹ VRP 37:15 to 37:22; CP 3502-03. (Order at 1).

⁴⁰ VRP 2878:6 to 2878:15.

⁴¹ Before PUD became educated on RCW 4.24.210, it was staking out the legal and factual position that it had *no* lawful possession or ownership of the Sandbar. That changed midway through summary judgment—when suddenly PUD became a

and thus, he could not put on his negligence case. He could not even use the word "negligence," as the Court limited PUD's duty to "posting a conspicuous sign."

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be

granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Multiple grounds exist in this case and Abel submits that

review should be accepted pursuant to its arguments below.

possessor, and suddenly produced a number of documents supporting its new theory of the case, which it had previously hidden in service to its old theory.

A. The Appellate Court Conflicted with a Supreme Court Decision By Affirming An Elevated Competency Burden And the Issue Involves a Substantial Public Interest.

The tolling statute based upon personal disability, RCW 4.16.190, is silent regarding the specific standard by which such disability or incapacity should be decided. Instead, the statute states that incompetency or disability may be determined according to Guardianship Act, RCW 11.130 et. seq. For over a decade, this Court has held, in *Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 164 Wn.2d 261, 270, 189 P.3d 753 (2008), that the Guardianship Act "provides the substantive definition of disability or incapacity for the purposes of tolling. In other respects the statutes [the tolling statute and the Guardianship Act] act independently." The appellate court, disagrees with this Court's decision, and broadens the reach of the Guardianship Act. (Slip Opinion at 3).

The appellate court does exactly what this Court stated it could not do in *Rivas* – it extends the procedural requirements outlined in the Guardianship Act and adopts the clear and convincing standard. *Id.* The appellate court specifically acknowledged that *Rivas* "did not address the Guardianship Act's burden of proof provision," yet it chose to essentially adopt the clear and convincing standard from the Guardianship Act.(Slip Opinion at 4). It ignored this Court's specific instruction that those Guardianship Act provisions "*act independently.*" The appellate court is simply wrong – either the issue of the standard of proof to establish disability or incompetence is a matter of first impression, or the appellate court departed from the decade-long precedent that Guardianship Act does not establish the burden of proof for the tolling statute.

Next, the appellate court incorrectly rationalized that the burden of proof is a substantive aspect of a claim, not a procedural rule, citing *Spratt v. Toft*, 180 Wn. App. 620, 636, 324 P.3d 707 (2014). However, that case dealt with the Anti-Slapp Statute, RCW 4.24.525, which this Court found to be unconstitutional in *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015). Nevertheless, the *Toft* Court was analyzing a statute that specifically outlined the burden of proof for each party – initial burden to show by preponderance of evidence that the claim targeted a protected activity (former RCW 4.24.525(4)(a)); and, the burden shifting to the responding party to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim (former RCW 4.24.525(b)). *Spratt*, 180 Wn. App. at 628-629. Yet, the appellate court cherry-picked this one outlier case in which it stated that the burden of proof as outlined in a statute was a substantive aspect of the claim. Here, the tolling statute does not specifically outline any burden shifting procedure. And that is exactly what this is – a statutory procedure.

The appellate court is incorrect in summarily dismissing Abel's position that this Court's decision in *Roberts v. Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 93 Wash. 274, 160 P. 965 (1916) is outdated. The appellate court's rationale is that since two subsequent cases *Grannum v. Berard*, 70 Wn.2d 304, 422 P.2d 812 (1967) – now sixty years old, and *Page v. Prudential Life Ins. Co of America*, 12 Wn.2d 109, 120 .2d 527 (1942) – now eighty years old, mentioned *Roberts* in the context of analyzing competency to execute contracts, the burden shifting framework in *Roberts* is somehow still good law. The appellate court mistakenly states that Abel did not explain the distinction between *Page and Grannum* versus his case. The distinction is obvious – competency to enter into contracts is much different than competency to assess whether a quadriplegic person with severe depression and suicidal ideations can be competent to assert his claims.

This is an issue of substantial public interest because a person trying to void a contract is much different than a person trying to establish that he was injured in a life-altering manner that causes him to try to kill himself to this day. The stakes are obviously much higher. Put in another way, under RCW 10.77 a Court determines by a lower standard – preponderance of the evidence – whether a person is competent to stand trial and possibly face imprisonment for the rest of their life. But, a person has to show a higher standard – clear and convincing evidence –

to be able to access the court after being rendered quadriplegic and suicidal as a result of the injury. There is no legal or policybased rationale that requires disabled people to prove their disabilities to the same standard as actual fraud⁴² or terminating parental rights.⁴³ This cannot be justice, or at the least, the Supreme Court needs to tell Abel that this is his lot in life.

B. The Appellate Court Agreed that the Trial Court Erred in allowing the contents of DSHS Assessment Records for Impeachment of Plaintiff's Expert, But Deviated from Well-Established Law in Finding that Error was Harmless.

The Appellate Court correctly ruled that PUD's impeachment of Dr. Glisky's opinion by reading the contents of the DSHS assessment was not authorized by ER 703 and 705. (Slip Opinion at 9). Yet, it inexplicably found that this error was somehow harmless. Even worse, the Court held that the same evidence that was inadmissible during cross-examination

⁴² *Kirkham v. Smith*, 106 Wn. App. 177, 183, 23 P.3d 10 (2001).

⁴³ *In re Dependency of K.S.C.*, 137 Wn.2d 918, 931, 976 P.2d 113 (1999).

because it violated ER 703 and 705 was somehow admissible under the same evidence rules for Dr. McClung.

Here, this error did in fact change the outcome of the trial. Dr. Glisky should never have been cross-examined with the assessments scores, but that mistake was made it was hard to unring that bell. Compounding that error was introduction of Dr. McLung's statements which relied upon complete and impermissible hearsay.

Under ER 705, this evidence may *not* be used as it was here because it was "a mechanism for admitting otherwise inadmissible evidence as an explanation of the expert's opinion." *State v. Anderson*, 44 Wn. App. 644, 652, 723 P.2d 464 (1986). "While Rule 703 permits an expert witness to take into account matters which are unadmitted and inadmissible, it does not follow that such a witness may simply report such matters to the trier of fact: The Rule was not designed to enable a witness to summarize and reiterate all manner of inadmissible evidence...." *State v. Martinez*, 78 Wn. App. 870, 879-80, 899 P.2d 1302 (1995) (internal quotes omitted); *see also Washington Irrig. and Dev. Co. v. Sherman*, 106 Wn.2d 685, 724 P.2d 997 (1986) (abuse of discretion to allow expert to offer opinions of other non-testifying doctors, which were not in evidence); *State v. Martinez*, 78 Wn. App. 870, 879-80, 899 P.2d 1302 (1995) (expert precluded from testifying to statements of third parties; besides being hearsay, it would have been "misleading and confusing").

Admitting unreliable hearsay content through an expert is precisely the reason hearsay medical conclusions are inadmissible. Testifying witnesses are subject to scrutiny; Ms. Magcalas was not. Ms. Magcalas was therefore (falsely) painted as a benevolent healer, who even-handedly generated cognitive assessments following lengthy examinations.⁴⁴ These

⁴⁴ Of course, PUD could never lay legitimate foundation for this. Even the jury had no idea what "qualifications or formal education" were required to generate a CPS score. PUD's expert simply waived off the question. VRP 2437:12-16 ("I'm not aware...").

assessments had all the imprimatur of credibility, being "medical records" and her obvious bias (*i.e.*, limiting the state's funding obligation) would open the door and prejudice Abel. Effectively, Ms. Magcalas offered expert opinions without pretrial disclosure, discovery, or cross-examination.

Making matters worse, much of what PUD said in closing was just a lie to the jury—which could not be corrected, because it is hearsay about government benefits. This was a caseworker responsible for allocating government benefits, not someone responsible "for planning Mr. Abel's care," as PUD suggested. This, by itself, is grounds for reversal and remand.

C. The Appellate Court Improperly Skirted the Issue of the Trial Court Error's in Letting Alcohol Into The Case and Ignored Supreme Court and its Own Rulings in the Process.

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