FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/17/2023 10:18 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1018291

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BROOKS ABEL,

Petitioner,

v.

## GRANT COUNTY PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT, ET AL.,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

## GORDON TILDEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP

Jeffrey M. Thomas, #21175 Mark Wilner, WSBA #31550 John Cadagan, WSBA #47996 600 University St., Ste 2915 Seattle, WA 98101 Tel. 206.467.6477

Attorneys for Respondent Grant County Public Utility District

### **TYSON & MENDES**

Tracy Duany, WSBA #32287 Bryan Scholnick, WSBA #42741 811 First Ave., Ste 260 Seattle, WA 98104 Tel. 206.420.4267

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

# 2. Rivas's Rationale Supports the Court of Appeals Decision—No RAP 13.4(b) Conflict.

Abel claims the Court of Appeals "disagree[d] with this Court's decision" in *Rivas*. Pet. at 14. This is not accurate. The Court of Appeals "disagree[d] with *Abel's reading of Rivas*." Slip op. at 5 (emphasis added). It concluded "Abel's reading of *Rivas* is unpersuasive." *Id.* at 8.

Notably, the Court in *Rivas* did not discuss the burden applicable to tolling for incompetency. The burden issue was

not before the Court and thus not addressed.<sup>4</sup> Accordingly,
Division One was correct to note that *Rivas* "is not controlling." *Id.* There can be no direct RAP 13.4(b) conflict with *Rivas*because the burden of proof issue was not even addressed by *Rivas*.

Nor is there any indirect conflict. The underlying rationale in *Rivas* supports the Court of Appeals decision. The *Rivas* court reasoned that the reference in RCW 4.16.190 to the Guardianship Act's incompetency determination is a reference to "substantive standards of incompetence," not "procedural" aspects of "establishing and prosecuting a guardianship" itself. 164 Wn.2d at 270-71. But as the Court of Appeals here noted, burdens of proof are inherently tied to the merits of claims and, as such, are deemed "substantive," not "procedural," aspects of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeal properly summarizes the issue in *Rivas* as whether a period of incapacity of four days was long enough to toll the statute of limitations, given the 10-day notice requirement for Guardianship Act petitions. Slip op. at 8. The substantive burden of proof was not before the Court in *Rivas* and not discussed.

such claims. Slip op. at 8 (citing *Spratt v. Toft*, 180 Wn. App. 620, 636 (2014)).<sup>5</sup> Thus, when the Guardianship Act statutes refer to the clear and convincing evidence burden, that defines a substantive aspect of an incompetency claim—and, under the rationale in *Rivas*, the substantive burden of proof is therefore incorporated into Washington's tolling statute. This is why the Court of Appeals was not persuaded by Abel's reading of *Rivas*.

# 3. Grannum Holds Incompetency Must Be Proved with Clear, Cogent, and Convincing Evidence.

There is no RAP 13.4(b) basis for review for yet another reason. This Court has already ruled as a matter of Washington common law that the burden of proving incompetency in civil cases is the same burden as set forth in the governing statutes—clear, cogent, and convincing evidence:

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Raleigh v. Illinois Dep't of Rev., 530 U.S. 15, 20-21 (2000) (holding "we have long held the burden of proof to be a 'substantive' aspect of a claim"); Peterson v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 349 F.2d 934, 936 (9th Cir. 1965) (same).

It is well settled that the law will presume ... competency rather than incompetency; it will presume that every man is ... fully competent until satisfactory proof to the contrary is presented. In Washington we have held that the standard of proof required to overcome this presumption, in civil cases, is that of clear, cogent and convincing evidence.

Grannum v. Berard, 70 Wn.2d 304, 307 (1967).

Abel argues that the Court of Appeals erred by not distinguishing *Grannum*. Pet. at 17. Abel misses the point of Division One's reasoning: if the guardianship act's language incorporating the clear, cogent, and convincing burden were not applicable,<sup>6</sup> the only possible source of law to fill the gap would be Washington common law. Slip op. at 8-9. And under the "well-established common law, the burden of proof required to overcome the presumption of competency in civil cases is that of clear, cogent and convincing evidence." *Id.* at 9 (citing *Grannum* and other cases).

<sup>6</sup> It clearly is. See § III.A.1 supra.

- 11 -

Finally, Abel's attempt to distinguish competency to enter contracts (*Grannum*) as being "much different" than competency to bring a lawsuit (this case) fails. Pet. at 17. The Court of Appeals properly viewed this as a distinction without a meaningful doctrinal difference. Both contexts address how people's mental or cognitive abilities can impact their decision making in legal settings. Slip op. at 11. The Court of Appeals' rationale is sound.

In short, Abel does not point to any conflicting decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Indeed, the governing law—both statutory and decisional—are contrary to Abel's position. Nor is the issue one of substantial public interest warranting

Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Legislature has already stated the burden of proof to establish incompetency for statute of limitations purposes specifically,

and this Court has already decided the issue as a matter of common law in civil cases more generally.<sup>7</sup>

B. The Court of Appeals' Harmless Error Analysis Regarding the Trial Court's Discretionary Decision to Admit Evidence of Abel's Cognitive Assessments Does Not Warrant Further Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals ruled it was error for the trial court to admit cognitive assessments to impeach Abel's expert witness (Dr. Martha Glisky) because she did not rely on the assessments to form her expert opinions; however, it was appropriate for the assessments to be used by Grant PUD's expert (Dr. Mark McClung) because he did rely on them to form his opinions. Slip op. at 16-19 (discussing *Washington Irrigation & Development Co. v. Sherman*, 106 Wn.2d 685 (1986)). Because Dr. McClung properly testified about the assessments, "[a]ny error in the PUD's method of cross-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Abel does not contend the issue involves a significant constitutional question under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

examining Dr. Glisky [about the assessments] was therefore harmless." *Id.* at 19.

Abel argues the Court of Appeals' harmless error analysis contravenes "well-established law," Pet. at 18 (heading), but Abel does not cite or discuss any such law, much less show how it would justify further appellate review under RAP 13.4(b). Indeed, the "well-established law" regarding harmless error review supports the Court of Appeals' analysis. As the Court of Appeals points out, "[e]rror in the inclusion of hearsay evidence is harmless unless it was reasonably probable that it changed the outcome of the trial." Slip op. at 18 (citing *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403 (1997)). Abel cannot meet this standard because the challenged evidence was properly admitted via Dr. McClung's expert testimony. *Id*.

Moreover, a jury verdict should be affirmed under straightforward harmless error review when, apart from any

claimed evidentiary error, 8 sufficient *other* evidence supports the verdict. *In re Kronenberg*, 155 Wn.2d 184, 194 (2005). Here, the jury had substantial evidence showing Abel's competency sufficient to sustain its verdict on tolling even if the challenged cognitive assessments were never discussed at all. Indeed, Dr. McClung testified the best evidence of Abel's competency was contemporaneous records made by those observing and assessing Abel, and he also relied on these records. VRP 2364. He testified Abel was competent by mid-July 2016 based on his ability to comprehend and understand, make decisions, and weigh information, and that after that date, he had only intermittent and brief issues due to lack of focus. VRP 2365-66. He testified about many other underlying facts and data supporting his expert opinion beyond the cognitive assessments Abel challenges on appeal, including:

Harborview occupational therapy records.
 VRP 2367-68, 2374-75; Ex. 29 at 883, 898.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> To be clear, Grant PUD does not agree there was any such error committed by the trial court in the first place.

- Harborview discharge summary upon Abel's hospital release. VRP 2375-78; Ex. 518.
- Harborview Rehab Psychological Evaluation from October 2016, three months after Abel's hospital discharge. VRP 2378-81; Ex. 29 at 2558.
- Dr. Reidel's January 2017 notes. VRP 2381-84; Ex. 31 at 15.
- UW Valley Medical records from October 2017, over a year after the accident. VRP 2384-86; Ex. 31 at 27.
- Testimony from Abel's friend Rachel
   O'Connor about her interactions with Abel.
   VRP 2392-93; see also VRP 1094-97
   (O'Connor trial testimony).

Dr. McClung also testified that many issues Abel was emphasizing, e.g., anxiety, suicidality, depression, unwillingness to think about hard issues, and tunnel vision, did not equate to incompetency. VRP 2393-98.

Moreover, Abel's extensive medical records reflect a uniform lack of concern about Abel's competency. *Accord* VRP 1636 (Glisky acknowledging Abel never diagnosed as incompetent). Finally, and arguably the most persuasive

evidence of all, the jury saw a video of Abel taken just one year after the accident that showed precisely how competent Abel was during the period he claimed to be incompetent. Ex. 512.

All of this evidence was before the jury regarding Abel's competency (the statute of limitations issue). It had nothing to do with the cognitive assessments Abel challenges on appeal.

And it provided substantial evidentiary justification for the jury's verdict.

There is no basis for Supreme Court review. Harmless error review is a fact-based analysis that turns on assessing all the evidence presented to the jury at a trial. *In re Kronenberg*, 155 Wn.2d at 194. There is no decisional conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), and harmless error review of the civil trial here does not raise a significant constitutional question under RAP 13.4(b)(3)), or an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. The Court of Appeals' Harmless Error Analysis
Regarding the Discretionary Decision to Admit
Limited Evidence of Abel's Blood Alcohol
Concentration on the Day of the Accident Does Not
Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

Abel also seeks review of the trial court's discretionary decision, affirmed by the Court of Appeals, to permit a defense expert toxicologist to testify about Abel's .03 BAC test result, which the trial court allowed as evidence to impeach Abel's denial of drinking any alcohol on the day of the accident. The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, properly viewed this case as distinguishable from Gerlach v. Cove Aparts., LLC, 196 Wn.2d 111 (2020), and *Needham v. Dreyer*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 479 (2019), because Abel denied drinking any alcohol; whereas in Gerlach and Needham, the plaintiff admitted to drinking alcohol. Slip op. at 20; CP 3482-83; VRP 35-53. In other words, unlike in *Gerlach* and *Needham*, the alcohol evidence here was impeachment evidence admissible to assess Abel's credibility. Id.; see also ER 607 ("The credibility of a witness may be attacked by any party").

Abel argues it is "simply not true" that he denied consuming alcohol on the day of the accident. Pet. at 23. But the evidentiary record shows otherwise:

- Q. Were you drinking that day?
- A. No I was not. If I did, I might have had one beer, but I no.
  - Q. No drinking?
  - A. No.

CP 3105. Abel attempted to recharacterize this denial as an "I don't remember," and his attempted recharacterization also is featured in his Petition for Review. Pet. at 23. However, his trial court testimony is clear: he denied drinking alcohol on May 1, 2016—the day of the accident. Abel's denial distinguishes this case from *Needham* and *Gerlach*, and the trial court and the Court of Appeals were both correct to so acknowledge. There is no decisional conflict justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Nor is there any other RAP 13.4(b) basis for Supreme Court review. The Court of Appeals opinion ultimately rests on a harmless error analysis. Slip op. at 20. It appropriately distinguished the facts of *Needham* where there was good reason to believe that improper evidence of alcohol affected the outcome of that trial. *Id.* The errors in *Needham* were flagrant and prejudicial—defense experts, despite no factual foundation, were allowed to testify to "chronic alcoholism" and "bingedrinking," and opine that Needham was "intoxicated" when he collapsed. Here, there was no inflammatory testimony from the defense toxicologist. His trial testimony was curtailed, limited to the BAC result to impeach Abel's testimony. He could not—and did not—express expert opinion about likely effects of alcohol on Abel's behavior or decision-making/judgment. VRP 2288-339.

Moreover, the impermissible alcohol testimony in Needham was intertwined with the substantive merits of the plaintiff's malpractice claim "as a whole." 11 Wn. App. 2d at 498. The court reasoned that "the jury necessarily considered alcohol consumption while making its determination of whether the standard of care was violated." *Id.* at 500.

Here, the jury did not decide the case against Abel based on the merits of Abel's conduct on May 1, 2016. It entered a defense verdict for an unrelated, procedural reason: failure to comply with the statute of limitations. There is no credible argument that the challenged evidence—that Abel had alcohol in his blood on May 1, 2016—is even possibly relevant to the jury's adjudication of whether Abel filed his lawsuit on time more than three years later. *See also Bell v. State*, 147 Wn.2d 166, 180 (2002) (holding any error is harmless when "not logically linked" to issue jury decided). The Court of Appeals was correct to hold that "the jury decided this case on statute of limitations grounds, an issue with no logical connection to the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Abel admitted in his appellate briefing that evidence of alcohol consumption was irrelevant to the statute of limitations issue on which the jury based its verdict. App. Br. at 37.

fact of Abel's consumption of alcohol on the day of the accident." Slip op. at 20. The Court of Appeals' fact-driven harmless error analysis does not implicate any RAP 13.4(b) consideration.

D. There Is No RAP 13.4(b) Basis for Review Over Recreational Use Immunity Given the Jury Verdict on Statute of Limitations.

The trial court determined Grant PUD met its prima facie burden of showing that Washington's recreational use immunity statute, RCW 4.24.210(1), was triggered as a matter of law, because Grant PUD undisputedly allowed members of the public such as Abel to use waterways it controls for outdoor recreation purposes without charging a fee. *See also* CP 2111, 3488, 3490. As a result of this ruling, the burden then shifted to Abel to show at trial that his injury was sustained "by reason of a known dangerous artificial latent condition" for which a warning was not conspicuously posted. *See* RCW 4.24.210(4)(a).

Abel seeks review of the trial court's preliminary decision that recreational use immunity was triggered as a matter of law in the first place. Pet. at 25. Abel describes this trial court decision as creating "structural error" in the civil trial. <sup>10</sup> *Id.* However, structural error in a civil trial cannot be a basis for further appellate review under RAP 13.4(b), because, as the Court of Appeals points out, the Washington Supreme Court holds "the doctrine of structural error is strictly limited to criminal trials." Slip op. at 20 (citing *In re Detention of Reyes*, 184 Wn.2d 340, 346 (2015)).

Nor is there any other basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). As with other issues summarized above, the Court of Appeals appropriately decided the recreational use issue on harmless error grounds. The trial court decision on recreational use immunity had nothing to do with the jury's statute of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The trial court's decision was legally sound for the various reasons detailed in Grant PUD's appellate briefing. *See* Resp. Br. at 42-54.

limitations verdict. Slip op. at 20 ("Abel draws no connection between the court's ruling on the recreational use immunity statute and the jury's verdict on statute of limitations."); *see also Bell*, 147 Wn.2d at 180 (harmless error when "not logically linked" to issue jury decided). Abel points to no relevant decisional conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Moreover, the Court of Appeals' harmless error analysis does not raise a significant constitutional question under RAP 13.4(b)(3)), nor an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Abel's Petition should therefore be denied.

### IV. CONCLUSION

Abel's Petition for Review fails to meet the standard governing review under RAP 13.4(b). His Petition should be denied accordingly.

I certify that this document contains 3,734 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.